

ADOPTED: 28 November 2017 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2017.5093

Assessment of the application for renewal of authorisation of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as feed additive for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening

EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP), Guido Rychen, Gabriele Aquilina, Giovanna Azimonti, Vasileios Bampidis, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Georges Bories, Andrew Chesson, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, Gerhard Flachowsky, Jürgen Gropp, Boris Kolar, Maryline Kouba, Marta López-Alonso, Alberto Mantovani, Baltasar Mayo, Fernando Ramos, Maria Saarela, Roberto Edoardo Villa, Robert John Wallace, Pieter Wester, Giovanna Martelli, Derek Renshaw, Gloria López-Gálvez and Secundino López Puente

Abstract

VevoVitall[®] is a feed additive consisting of benzoic acid. It is currently authorised as a zootechnical additive for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening. This opinion concerns the renewal of the authorisation of benzoic acid as a zootechnical additive in feed. In 2005 and 2017, the EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) adopted two opinions on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®] as a feed additive for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening, respectively. The applicant has provided data demonstrating that the additive currently in the market complies with the conditions of authorisation. Furthermore, according to the information provided in the technical dossier, no new evidence has been identified that would make the FEEDAP Panel reconsidering the previous conclusions on the safety of the additive. The Panel confirms that the additive is safe at the maximum authorised concentrations of 5,000 and 10,000 mg/kg feed for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening, respectively; a margin of safety cannot be determined for weaned piglets while a margin of safety of less than 1.5 is established for pigs for fattening. The use of VevoVitall[®] in feeds for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening at the maximum authorised concentrations does not pose any safety concern for consumers and the environment. The use of VevoVitall[®] does not pose a risk by inhalation to users and is not a skin sensitiser. The new available data confirm that the additive is a skin irritant and a severe eve irritant. A recommendation concerning the potential toluene residues in the additive has been posted.

© 2017 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: zootechnical additives, other zootechnical additives, benzoic acid, VevoVitall[®], pigs for fattening, weaned piglets, renewal

Requestor: European Commission Question number: EFSA-Q-2016-00017 Correspondence: feedap@efsa.europa.eu



Panel members: Gabriele Aquilina, Giovanna Azimonti, Vasileios Bampidis, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Georges Bories, Andrew Chesson, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, Gerhard Flachowsky, Jürgen Gropp, Boris Kolar, Maryline Kouba, Marta López-Alonso, Secundino López Puente, Alberto Mantovani, Baltasar Mayo, Fernando Ramos, Guido Rychen, Maria Saarela, Roberto Edoardo Villa, Robert John Wallace and Pieter Wester.

Acknowledgements: The FEEDAP Panel wishes to thank the following for the support provided to this scientific output: Jaume Galobart, Lucilla Gregoretti, Matteo L. Innocenti and Manuela Tiramani.

Suggested citation: EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Martelli G, Renshaw D, López-Gálvez G and López Puente S, 2017. Scientific Opinion on the assessment of the application for renewal of authorisation of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as feed additive for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening. EFSA Journal 2017;15(12):5093, 13 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.5093

ISSN: 1831-4732

© 2017 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





Table of contents

| Abstrac | Abstract | |
|---|--|---|
| 1. | Introduction | 4 |
| 1.1. | Background and Terms of Reference | 4 |
| 1.2. | Interpretation of the Terms of Reference | 4 |
| 1.3. | Additional information | 4 |
| 2. | Data and methodologies | 4 |
| 2.1. | Data | 4 |
| 2.2. | Methodologies | 5 |
| 3. | Assessment | 5 |
| 3.1. | Characterisation | 5 |
| 3.1.1. | Characterisation of the product | 5 |
| 3.1.2. | Stability and homogeneity | |
| 3.1.3. | Conditions of use | 6 |
| 3.2. | Safety | 6 |
| 3.2.1. | Safety for the target species | 6 |
| 3.2.2. | Safety for the consumer | 7 |
| 3.2.3. | Safety for the user | 8 |
| 3.2.4. | Safety for the environment | 8 |
| 3.3. | Post-market monitoring | 9 |
| 4. | Conclusions | 9 |
| 5. | Recommendations | |
| Docum | Documentation provided to EFSA | |
| Referer | References | |
| Abbrev | Abbreviations | |
| Appendix A – List of references retrieved from the literature search provided by the applicant to support | | |
| safety of | afety of the additive | |

1. Introduction

1.1. Background and Terms of Reference

Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003¹ establishes the rules governing the Community authorisation of additives for use in animal nutrition. In particular, Article 14(1) of that Regulation lays down that an application for renewal shall be sent to the Commission at the latest one year before the expiry date of the authorisation.

The European Commission received a request from DSM Nutritional Products AG^2 for renewal of the authorisation of the product VevoVitall[®] (Benzoic Acid), when used as a feed additive for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening (category: zootechnical additives; functional group: other zootechnical additives).

According to Article 7(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, the Commission forwarded the application to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) as an application under Article 14(1) (renewal of the authorisation). The particulars and documents in support of the application were considered valid by EFSA as of 21 June 2016.

According to Article 8 of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, EFSA, after verifying the particulars and documents submitted by the applicant, shall undertake an assessment in order to determine whether the feed additive complies with the conditions laid down in Article 5. EFSA shall deliver an opinion on the safety for the target animals, consumer, user and the environment and on the efficacy of the product VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid), when used under the proposed conditions of use (see Section 3.1.3).

1.2. Interpretation of the Terms of Reference

The application for renewal of the authorisation does not include a proposal for amending or supplementing the conditions of the original authorisation that would have an impact on the efficacy of the additive; therefore, efficacy is not assessed. The present opinion will focus only on the safety aspects.

1.3. Additional information

The FEEDAP Panel has adopted a total of six opinions on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®] for weaned piglets (EFSA, 2005; EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2011), pigs for fattening (EFSA, 2007) and pigs for reproduction (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012, 2015) and minor porcine species (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2017).

The product from the applicant, either as VevoVitall[®] or as benzoic acid, is authorised in the European Union (EU) as a zootechnical additive for weaned piglets at the content of 5,000 mg/kg complete feedingstuffs,^{3,4} and for pigs for fattening⁵ and sows⁶ at the maximum content of 10,000 mg/kg complete feedingstuffs.

2. Data and methodologies

2.1. Data

The present assessment is based on data submitted by the applicant in the form of a technical dossier⁷ in support of the authorisation request for the use of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as a feed

¹ Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on additives for use in animal nutrition. OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 29.

² DSM Nutritional Products AG represented in the EU by DSM Nutritional Products Sp. z o.o. Poland: Tarczynska 113, 96-320 Mszczonow, Poland.

³ Commission Regulation (EC) No 1730/2006 of 23 November 2006 concerning the authorisation of benzoic acid (VevoVitall) as a feed additive. OJ L 325, 24.11.2006, p. 9.

⁴ Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 226/2012 of 15 March 2012 amending Regulation (EC) No 1730/2006 as regards the conditions of use of benzoic acid (holder of authorisation Emerald Kalama Chemical BV). OJ L 77, 16.3.2012, p. 6.

⁵ Commission Regulation (EC) No 1138/2007 of 1 October 2007 concerning the authorisation of benzoic acid (VevoVitall) as a feed additive. OJ L 265, 2.10.2007, p. 8.

⁶ Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2016/900 of 8 June 2016 concerning the authorisation of benzoic acid as a feed additive for sows (holder of authorisation DSM Nutritional Product Sp. z o. o.). OJ L 152, 9.6.2016, p. 18.

⁷ FEED dossier reference: FAD-2015-0044.

additive. The technical dossier was prepared following the provisions of Article 14 of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, Regulation (EC) No $429/2008^8$ and the applicable EFSA guidance documents.

The FEEDAP Panel used the data provided by the applicant together with data from other sources, such as previous risk assessments by EFSA or other expert bodies to deliver the present output.

The European Union Reference Laboratory (EURL) considered that the conclusions and recommendations reached in the previous assessment are valid and applicable for the current application. 9

2.2. Methodologies

The approach followed by the FEEDAP Panel to assess the safety of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) is in line with the principles laid down in Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 and the relevant guidance document: Guidance on the renewal of the authorisation of feed additives (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2013).

3. Assessment

This assessment regards the renewal of the authorisation of the product VevoVitall[®] (\geq 99.9% benzoic acid) as a zootechnical additive, functional group 'other zootechnical additives', to be used in feedingstuffs for weaned piglets at 5,000 mg/kg complete feed and pigs for fattening at the minimum and maximum content of 5,000 and 10,000 mg/kg complete feed, respectively. The specific functions under which the authorisation is granted is:

- for weaned piglets, 'improvement of performance parameters: weight gain or feed/gain ratio', and
- for pigs for fattening, 'urinary pH decrease'.

3.1. Characterisation

3.1.1. Characterisation of the product

The additive VevoVitall[®] contains benzoic acid (benzenecarboxylic acid, phenylcarboxylic acid, Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) No 65–85–0, European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances (EINECS) No 200–168–2) as an active substance.

The manufacturing process of benzoic acid is based on the oxidation of toluene.¹⁰ The applicant states that the manufacturing process meets the principles described in the primary authorisation with no changes. The process includes the checking for toluene residues; however, no analytical data and specifications for toluene are present.

The specifications of the additive as defined by the applicant are: \geq 99% benzoic acid, \leq 100 mg/kg phthalic acid, \leq 100 mg/kg sum of biphenyls, \leq 10 mg/kg heavy metals (as lead) and \leq 2.0 mg/kg arsenic. These specifications meet those described in the authorisation of VevoVitall[®]. Moreover, these specifications are consistent with those described for benzoic acid as a food additive (Commission Directive 96/77/EC)¹¹. The analysis of six batches of the additive showed that benzoic acid from VevoVitall[®] met the specifications regarding benzoic acid content and impurities: benzoic acid > 99%; phthalic acid 25–36 mg/kg; biphenyls 63–66 mg/kg; heavy metals < 10 mg/kg; arsenic < 0.01 mg/kg; sulfated ash < 0.01%.¹²

The product appears as white flakes. The analysis of particle size distribution was made by dry sieving¹³ and laser diffraction.¹⁴ The results showed that virtually all particles had a diameter greater than 425 μ m; no particles below 50 μ m were detected by laser diffraction. The applicant also provided

⁸ Commission Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 of 25 April 2008 on detailed rules for the implementation of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the preparation and the presentation of applications and the assessment and the authorisation of feed additives. OJ L 133, 22.5.2008, p. 1.

⁹ The report linked to the previous dossier (related to EFSA-Q-2010-00881) is available on the EURL website: https://ec. europa.eu/jrc/sites/default/files/FinRep-FAD-2010-0029.pdf

¹⁰ Technical dossier/Supplementary information/Appendix 02.

¹¹ Commission Directive 96/77/EC of 2 December 1996 laying down specific purity criteria on food additives other than colours and sweeteners. OJ L 339, 30.12.1996, p. 1.

¹² Technical Dossier/Section II/Annex_II_6. Complementary Information-August 2017. Values reported as «<» refer to the limit of quantification.

¹³ Technical Dossier/Section II/Annex_II_7.

¹⁴ Technical Dossier/Supplementary Information/Appendix 06.



an evaluation of the figures obtained by sieving with those from the product analysed in 2010, showing that the results were comparable.

The dusting potential, determined by the Stauber–Heubach test in the same three batches in which the sieve analysis was done (see paragraph above), was $0.04 \text{ g/m}^{3.13,14}$

3.1.2. Stability and homogeneity

By means of analysis of benzoic acid, the shelf-life of 24 months, the stability in premixtures of 6 months and the stability in feed of 3 months and the stability to pelleting have been already demonstrated.^{15,16} A further study in pig pelleted feed (pelleting temperature 85° C) stored at 25° C for 12 months demonstrated that no losses of benzoic acid during pelleting and storage of the feed were observed.¹⁷

The ability for VevoVitall[®] to mix homogeneously is the same as in the primary authorisations as its particles size and composition are unchanged.

3.1.3. Conditions of use

VevoVitall[®] is currently authorised for use in weaned piglets at the maximum dose of 5,000 mg/kg complete feed and in pigs for fattening at the minimum dose of 5,000 mg/kg complete feed and at the maximum dose of 10,000 mg/kg complete feed. No modification of the authorised conditions of use is proposed. The authorisation prescribes that the permitted maximum level for benzoic acid in complete feed should not be exceeded, accounting for the different sources of contribution.

Indications on the use of the additive in complementary feed are provided in the authorisation: Complementary feedingstuffs containing benzoic acid shall not be fed to pigs as such and should be thoroughly mixed with other feed materials of the daily ration. Measures to protect users including the use of breathing protection and gloves are also foreseen.

3.2. Safety

The applicant performed a literature search in order to provide evidence that in the light of the current knowledge the additive remains safe under the approved conditions for target species, consumers, users/workers and the environment. Details of the literature search performed are given later, in each specific safety subsection.¹⁸

3.2.1. Safety for the target species

Six scientific opinions on VevoVitall[®] concluded that the additive is safe in weaned piglets (EFSA, 2005; EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2011), pigs for fattening (EFSA, 2007), pigs for reproduction (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012, 2015) and minor porcine species (EFSA FEEDAP Panel et al., 2017) when used as a zootechnical additive at a dose between 5,000 and 10,000 mg/kg complete feed. The FEEDAP Panel had identified an increase of adverse effects, and in particular of oesophagus and gastric lesions, at excess concentrations of benzoic acid in feeds – higher than 5,000 and 10,000 mg/kg in piglets and pigs for fattening, respectively (EFSA, 2005, 2007). A margin of safety could not be determined for weaned piglets; a (narrow) margin of safety of less than 1.5 was calculated for pigs for fattening.

The applicant performed a structured literature search on the safety of the additive for piglets and growing finishing pigs. The databases consulted were Scopus and PubMed; the search period covered from January 2012 to August 2015; the keywords used were: for the substance 'benzoic or benzoate or hippuric', for the target species 'pig or pigs or swine or piglet or piglets', for the issue 'safety or toxicity or lesions'. A total of 16 publications (see Appendix A) fitted with the search criteria; no paper reported effects of safety concern related to the supplementation of benzoic acid in pigs at the concentrations in feeds authorised in the EU.¹⁹

The FEEDAP Panel considers that there are no new data that would lead to the revision of the conclusions on the safety for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening.

¹⁵ Technical Dossier/Supplementary Information/Appendix 03.

¹⁶ Technical Dossier/Supplementary Information/Appendix 04.

¹⁷ Technical Dossier/Supplementary Information/Appendix 05.

¹⁸ Technical Dossier/Section III.

¹⁹ Technical Dossier/Section III/Annex_III_6.



3.2.2. Safety for the consumer

In its previous opinions, the FEEDAP Panel did not identify any safety concern for consumers when VevoVitall[®] is used in pig feeds at the authorised usage levels.

In order to check if there were new data requiring a revision of the previous conclusions on the safety for the consumers, the applicant examined three databases (STN/RTECS, Scopus and ToxNet/ ToxLine) and performed two literature searches in different periods: one from 2011 to 2013 and another from 2012 to 2015.²⁰ In general, the following keywords were used: 'benzoic acid', 'CASREGNUMBER 65-85-0', 'genotoxicity', 'toxicity', 'reproduction toxicity', 'allergy', 'mutagenicity', 'carcinogenicity'. A total of 22 references were extracted, from which 17 related to safety for consumers and 5 to safety for users (see Appendix A).

No new information related to toxicokinetics or toxicology of benzoic acid was present, with the exception of genotoxicity. A number of studies published in the open literature report the results of genotoxicity tests on benzoic acid or its salts (sodium or potassium benzoate). These studies are described below.

Benzoic acid was found to be genotoxic in comet assays in human lymphocytes (Demir et al., 2010; Yilmaz et al., 2014) and in haemocytes of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Demir and Kaya, 2013). However, it should be considered that these assays are not currently used in regulatory risk assessment and no OECD guidelines exist for them.

Pongsavee (2015) reported increased micronuclei and chromosomal aberrations in human bone marrow cells at the concentrations of 1,000 and 2,000 μ g sodium benzoate/mL, but in this study no information on cytotoxicity is given. The study was conducted only without metabolic activation.

Sodium and potassium benzoate caused dose-related increases of sister chromatid exchanges, micronuclei and chromosomal aberrations in human lymphocytes at all concentrations tested (6.25–100 μ g/mL and 62.5–100 μ g/L, respectively, for sodium and potassium benzoate); sodium, but not potassium benzoate, also increased DNA breaks according to the comet assay. However significant cytotoxicity was reported at all concentrations tested, as indicated by significantly reduced mitotic index (Zengin et al., 2011).

Overall, the results confirm previous assessments that benzoic acid and its derivatives may induce genotoxic changes *in vitro*; however, *in vivo* genotoxicity studies are consistently negative (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012; EFSA ANS Panel, 2016).

Benzoic acid was also tested in the US EPA's ToxCast project, a large screening programme using a panel of high-throughput cell-free assays for CYP activation/inhibition or binding to membrane receptors (mitochondria, norepinephrine, dopaminergic, aminergic, etc.) as well as nuclear receptors (e.g. oestrogen): benzoic acid was consistently negative in all assays, indicating a low likelihood to exert organ/system-specific toxicity (Sipes et al., 2013).

In conclusion, the review of these studies did not yield information that would require modification of the previous EFSA conclusions and of the position of the Scientific Committee for Food (SCF) (European Commission, 2002a) and the Scientific Committee for Animal Nutrition (SCAN) (European Commission, 2002b). Therefore, the use of VevoVitall[®] in weaned piglets and pigs for fattening at the authorised doses is considered safe for the consumer.

3.2.3. Safety for the user

In its assessment of 2002, the SCAN concluded that benzoic acid is an irritant for the skin and eyes; microscopic lung lesions were observed in a subacute inhalation test in the rat at the lowest dose tested of 25 mg/m³, thus a no observed adverse effect concentration (NOAEC) by inhalation was not identified (European Commission, 2002b). The SCAN recommended that measures should be taken to minimise the production of respirable dust; the Committee also concluded that the balance of evidence in skin sensitisation indicated minimal risk to operators.

User safety was further considered in two EFSA Scientific opinions on the use of VevoVitall[®] in weaned piglets and pigs for fattening (EFSA 2005, 2007). The FEEDAP Panel supported the overall SCAN position and recommendations. The Panel additionally noted at the time that, whereas benzoic acid was negative in laboratory assays on skin sensitisation, it induced allergic skin or respiratory reactions, albeit at low incidence, in sensitised individuals.

²⁰ Technical Dossier/Section III/Annex_III_7.

VevoVitall[®] is unlikely to give rise to an appreciable inhalation exposure, since the particle fraction of inhalable size ($\leq 100 \ \mu$ m) represents about 0.6% and particles of the respirable fraction ($\leq 10 \ \mu$ m and below) are virtually absent; the dusting potential is very low (0.04 g/m³) (see Section 3.1.1).

From the literature search provided by the applicant – the same used for the safety for the consumers (see Section 3.2.2) – five references related to the safety for the user were identified (see Appendix A). Schnuch et al. (2011) performed an analysis of skin sensitisation by preservatives, including also sodium benzoate, in a large population (over 70,000 subjects) in the United Kingdom; the frequency of reactions to sodium benzoate was 0.69%. This finding supports the previous FEEDAP Panel conclusions that allergy-like reactions to benzoic acid may occur in a small population subset.

The Committee for Risk Assessment of the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) concluded in 2012 that benzoic acid should be classified as Eye Damage 1 and Skin Irritant 2.²¹ The hazard for the eyes was assigned on the basis of two guideline-based *in vivo* studies on rabbits, which showed that benzoic acid powder to be moderately to severely irritating to the eye. Although two guideline-based *in vivo* studies on rabbits indicated absent or slight skin irritation, available human data show that benzoic acid is capable of inducing non-immunological contact urticaria; this lesion is regarded as an irritation reaction without requiring previous sensitisation. Accordingly, benzoic acid was not considered as a skin sensitiser. To the best knowledge of the FEEDAP Panel, there are no new data that may modify the conclusions of the ECHA assessment. The FEEDAP Panel therefore considers that allergy-like (urticarial) reactions observed in humans upon skin contact with benzoic acid and derivatives do not have an immunological basis and are manifestations of skin irritation.

The FEEDAP Panel concludes that the use of VevoVitall[®] does not pose a risk by inhalation to users and is not a skin sensitiser. The new available data confirm that the additive is a skin irritant and a severe eye irritant. The additive has low dustiness and a minimal fraction of respirable or inhalable dust; thus inhalation exposure is considered as very low. No risk to users by inhalation is foreseen at the conditions of use.

3.2.4. Safety for the environment

Most benzoic acid administered to farm animals will be excreted as urinary hippuric acid (Baldwin et al., 1960; Kristensen et al., 2009), an endogenous metabolic by-product. Small amounts of benzoates may also occur in the excreta; such compounds have low potential for adverse effects in aquatic or terrestrial organisms. SCAN concluded that, based on the characteristics of benzoic acid and of its metabolites, no concerns for environment are expected (European Commission, 2002b). In 2007, the FEEDAP Panel endorsed this conclusion for VevoVitall[®] (EFSA, 2007).

The applicant provided a literature search to support the safety for the environment of the additive, in accordance with the Guidance for renewal (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2013). Two scientific database were examined (Scopus and Pubmed) applying two sets of keywords in two different time periods (January 2012–August 2015, keywords: benzoic acid, benzoate, hippuric, air, soil, water, environment, safety²²; January 2012–July 2016, keywords: benzoic, benzoate, hippuric, environmental toxicity, ecotoxicity²³) with the aim of examining if there were new findings on the safety of benzoic acid for the environment. A total of 473 references were overall retrieved; however, the large majority of them were not relevant (e.g. references concerning pesticides, pesticide metabolites or parabens which contains benzoic acid or hippuric acid-related chemical moieties, occupational toxicity, petroleum industry). A total of 10 papers (see Appendix A) were deemed to be potentially relevant to the safety of benzoic acid for the environment, and in particular to the use in animal nutrition, and thus, were examined further. However, the FEEDAP Panel found that no studies directly relevant to the environmental risk assessment of benzoic acid were identified.

Therefore, the references provided do not add any significant information to the environmental safety of benzoic acid used as a feed additive, which may lead to modify the previous conclusion of the FEEDAP Panel. Accordingly, the Panel considers that there is not new data that call for a revision of the conclusions on the safety for the environment.

²¹ Technical Dossier/Section III/Appendix 3–9.

²² Technical Dossier/Section III/Annex_III_12.

²³ Technical Dossier/Supplementary Information/Appendix 07.



3.3. Post-market monitoring

The FEEDAP Panel considers that there is no need for specific requirements for a post-market monitoring plan other than those established in the Feed Hygiene Regulation²⁴ and Good Manufacturing Practice.

4. Conclusions

The applicant has provided data demonstrating that the additive currently in the market complies with the conditions of authorisation.

The FEEDAP Panel confirms that the use of VevoVitall[®] is safe at the maximum authorised concentrations of 5,000 and 10,000 mg/kg feed for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening, respectively; a margin of safety cannot be determined for weaned piglets while a (narrow) margin of safety of less than 1.5 is established for pigs for fattening.

The FEEDAP Panel confirms its previous conclusion that the use of VevoVitall[®] in feeds for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening at the maximum authorised concentrations does not pose any safety concern for consumers.

The FEEDAP Panel concludes that the use of VevoVitall[®] does not pose a risk by inhalation to users and is not a skin sensitiser. The new available data confirm that the additive is a skin irritant and a severe eye irritant.

The FEEDAP Panel confirms its previous conclusion that the use of VevoVitall[®] in feeds for weaned piglets and pigs for fattening at the maximum authorised concentrations does not pose any concern for the environment.

5. Recommendations

Toluene impurities in the additive should be monitored during the production process to check the compliance with the criteria laid by VICH (Veterinary International Cooperation on Harmonisation of technical requirements for registration of medicinal products) on residual solvents in products for veterinary use.²⁵

Documentation provided to EFSA

- 1) Dossier VevoVitall[®] for pigs for fattening and weaned piglets. December 2015. Submitted by DSM Nutritional Products Ltd.
- 2) Dossier VevoVitall[®] for pigs for fattening and weaned piglets. Supplementary information. September 2016. Submitted by DSM Nutritional Products Ltd.
- 3) Dossier VevoVitall[®] for pigs for fattening and weaned piglets. Complementary information. August 2017. Submitted by DSM Nutritional Products Ltd.

References

Baldwin B, Robinson D and Williams R, 1960. The fate of benzoic acid in some domestic and other birds. Biochemical Journal, 76, 595–600.

- Demir E and Kaya B, 2013. Studies on the genotoxic properties of four benzyl derivatives by the in vivo comet assay using haemocytes of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Fresenius Environmental Bulletin, 22, 1590–1596.
- Demir E, Kocaoğlu S and Kaya B, 2010. Assessment of genotoxic effects of benzyl derivatives by the comet assay. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 48, 1239–1242.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2005. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) on the safety and efficacy of the product VevoVitall[®] as a feed additive for weaned piglets in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003. EFSA Journal 2005;3(12):290, 13 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2005.290
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2007. Opinion of the Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as feed additive for pigs for fattening. EFSA Journal 2007;5(3):457, 14 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2007.457

²⁴ Regulation (EC) No 183/2005 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 January 2005 laying down requirements for feed hygiene. OJ L 35, 8.2.2005, p. 1.

²⁵ VICH GL18(R) (IMPURITIES SOLVENTS). June 2011. Available online: http://www.vichsec.org/component/attachments/attac hments/154.html?task=download

- EFSA ANS Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources Added to Food), 2016. Scientific Opinion on the re-evaluation of benzoic acid (E 210), sodium benzoate (E 211), potassium benzoate (E 212) and calcium benzoate (E 213) as food additives. EFSA Journal 2016;14(3):4433, 110 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa. 2016.4433
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2011. Scientific Opinion on modification of the terms of authorisation of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as a feed additive for weaned piglets. EFSA Journal 2011;9(9):2358, 9 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2358
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2012. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as feed additive for pigs for reproduction. EFSA Journal 2012;10(7):2775, 11 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2775
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2013. Guidance on the renewal of the authorisation of feed additives. EFSA Journal 2013;11(10):3431, 8 pp. https://doi.org/ 10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3431
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2015. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®] (benzoic acid) as a feed additive for pigs for reproduction (gestating and lactating sows, boars and gilts). EFSA Journal 2015;13(7):4157, 7 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4157
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances usedin Animal Feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Martelli G, Renshaw D, López-Gálvez G and López Puente S, 2017. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®](benzoic acid)as feed additive for minor porcine species. EFSA Journal 2017;15(10):5026, 7 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.5026
- European Commission, 2002a, online. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Food on Benzoic acid and its salts. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/safety/docs/sci-com_scf_out137_en.pdf
- European Commission, 2002b, online. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on the use of benzoic acid in feedstuffs for pigs for fattening. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/safety/ docs/animal-feed_additives_rules_scan-old_report_out100.pdf
- Kristensen N, Norgaard J, Wamberg S, Engback M, Fernandez J, Zacho H and Poulsen H, 2009. Absorption and metabolism of benzoic acid in growing pigs. Journal of Animal Science, 87, 2815–2822.
- Pongsavee M, 2015. Effect of sodium benzoate preservative on micronucleus induction, chromosome break, and Ala40Thr superoxide dismutase gene mutation in lymphocytes. Biomed Research International, 2015, Article ID 103512. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/103512
- Schnuch A, Lessmann H, Geier J and Uter W, 2011. Contact allergy to preservatives. Analysis of IVDK data 1996–2009. British Journal of Dermatology, 164, 1316–1325.
- Sipes NS, Martin MT, Kothiya P, Reif DM, Judson RS, Richard AM, Houck KA, Dix DJ, Kavlock RJ and Knudsen TB, 2013. Profiling 976 ToxCast chemicals across 331 enzymatic and receptor signaling assays. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 26, 878–895.
- Yilmaz S, Unal F, Yüzbaşıoğlu D and Celik M, 2014. DNA damage in human lymphocytes exposed to four food additives in vitro. Toxicology and Industrial Health, 30, 926–937.
- Zengin N, Yüzbaşioĝlu D, Ünal F, Yilmaz S and Aksoy H, 2011. The evaluation of the genotoxicity of two food preservatives: sodium benzoate and potassium benzoate. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 49, 763–769.

Abbreviations

- CAS Chemical Abstracts Service
- ECHA European Chemicals Agency
- EINECS European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances
- EURL European Union Reference Laboratory
- FEEDAP EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed
- NOAEC no observed adverse effect concentration
- SCF Scientific Committee for Food
- SCAN Scientific Committee for Animal Nutrition
- VICH Veterinary International Cooperation on Harmonisation of technical requirements for registration of medicinal products

Appendix A – List of references retrieved from the literature search provided by the applicant to support safety of the additive

A.1. Safety for target animals

- Awaad AS, Alhamed TA, Maitland DJ, Soliman, GA, AL-Jaber NA, AL-Outhman MR, Zain MZ, EL-Meligy RM and Alafeefy AM, 2014. Evaluation of the antimicrobial activity, sub-chronic toxicity and wound healing effect of *Cunninghamella elegans* extract and its isolated Compounds. Life Science Journal, 11, 261–268.
- Molloi S, Chalyan D, Le H and Wong JT, 2011. Estimation of coronary artery hyperemic blood flow based on arterial lumen volume using angiographic images. The International Journal of Cardiovascular Imaging, 28, 1–11.
- Okada T, Yamaguchi M, Takahashi T, Izaki K, Uotani K, Sakamoto N, Sugimura K and Sugimoto K, 2011. Is Embolization of the pancreas safe? Pancreatic histological changes after selective transcatheter arterial embolization with N-butyl cyanoacrylate in a Swine model. CardioVascular and Interventional Radiology, 35, 161–167.
- Brewer C, Otto-Duessel M, Lykkesfeldt J, Nick H and Wood JC, 2012. Ascorbate status modulates reticuloendothelial iron stores and response to deferasirox iron chelation in ascorbate-deficient rats. Experimental Hematology, 40, 820–827.
- Escribano M, I. San Andres M, de Lucas J and Gonzalez-Canga A, 2012. Ivermectin residue depletion in food producing species and its presence in animal foodstuffs with a view to human safety. Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, 13, 987–998.
- Föllmann W, Blaszkewicz M, Behm C, Degen GH and Golka K, 2012. N-Acetylation of p-aminobenzoic acid and p-Phenylenediamine in primary porcine urinary bladder epithelial cells and in the human urothelial cell line 5637. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 75, 1206–1215.
- Harty NJ, Laskey DH, Moinzadeh A, Flacke S, Benn JA, Villani R, Kalra A, Libertino JA and Madras PN, 2012. Temporary targeted renal blood flow interruption using a reverse thermosensitive polymer to facilitate bloodless partial nephrectomy: a swine survival study. BJU International, 110, E274–E280.
- Kwak HJ, Nam JY, Song JS, No Z, Yang SD and Cheon HG, 2012. Discovery of a novel orally active PDE-4 inhibitor effective in an ovalbumin-induced asthma murine model. European Journal of Pharmacology, 685, 141–148.
- Pomposelli JJ, Akoad M, Flacke S, Benn JJ, Solano M, Kalra A and Madras PN, 2012. Feasibility of bloodless liver resection using Lumagel, a reverse thermoplastic polymer, to produce temporary, targeted hepatic blood flow interruption. HPB, 14, 115–121.
- Springer C, Dere E, Hall SJ, McDonnell EV, Roberts SC, Butt C, Stapleton HM, Watkins DJ, McClean MD, Webster TF, Schlezinger JJ and Boekelheide K, 2012. Rodent thyroid, liver, and fetal testis toxicity of the monoester metabolite of bis-(2-ethylhexyl) Tetrabromophthalate (TBPH), a novel brominated flame retardant present in indoor dust. Environmental Health Perspectives, 120, 1711.
- Tappeiner C, Flueckiger F, Boehnke M, Goldblum D and Garweg JG, 2012. Effect of topical anesthetic agents and ethanol on corneoepithelial wound healing in an ex vivo whole-globe porcine model. Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery, 38, 519–524.
- Osman N, Grande-Allen KJ, Ballinger ML, Getachew R, Marasco S, O'Brien KD and Little PJ, 2013. Smad2-dependent glycosaminoglycan elongation in aortic valve interstitial cells enhances binding of LDL to proteoglycans. Cardiovascular Pathology, 22, 146–155.
- Silva SMC, Sousa JJS, Marques EF, Pais AACC and Michniak-Kohn BB, 2013. Structure Activity Relationships in Alkylammonium C12-Gemini Surfactants Used as Dermal Permeation Enhancers. The AAPS Journal, 15, 1119–1127.
- Tan L, Wan A and Li H, 2013. Fluorescent chitosan complex nanosphere diazeniumdiolates as donors and sensitive real-time probes of nitric oxide. The Analyst, 138, 879–886.
- Nara H, Sato K, Naito T, Mototani H, Oki H, Yamamoto Y, Kuno H, Santou T, Kanzaki N, Terauchi J, Uchikawa O and Kori M, 2014. Discovery of Novel, Highly Potent, and Selective Quinazoline-2carboxamide-Based Matrix Metalloproteinase (MMP)-13 Inhibitors without a Zinc Binding Group Using a Structure-Based Design Approach. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 57, 8886–8902.
- Wu P-S, Huang L-N, Guo Y-C and Lin C-C, 2014. Effects of the novel poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA)-encapsulated organic ultraviolet (UV) filters on the UV absorbance and in vitro sun protection factor (SPF). Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 131, 24–30.



A.2. Safety for the consumer

- Demir E, Kocaoğlu S and Kaya B, 2010. Assessment of genotoxic effects of benzyl derivatives by the comet assay. Food and chemical toxicology, 48, 1239–1242.
- Demir E and Kaya B, 2013. Studies on the genotoxic properties of four benzyl derivatives in the in vivo comet assay using haemocytes of Drosophila melanogaster. Fresenius Environmental Bulletin, 22, 1590–1596.
- European Commission, 1994. Opinion of the Scientific Committee for Food on benzoic acid and its salts. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, 35. 33–39.
- European Commission, 2002. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on the use of benzoic acid in feedingstuffs for pigs for fattening. Available online: http://ec.europa.eu/food/fs/sc/scan/out100en.pdf.
- European Commission, 2002. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Food on Benzoic acid and its salts. Available online: http://ec.europa.eu/food/fs/sc/scf/out137en.pdf
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2005. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on additives and products or substances used in animal feed (FEEDAP) on the Safety and Efficacy of the product Vevovitall as a feed additive for weaned piglets in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003. EFSA Journal, 2005;3(11):290, 13 pp. https://doi. org/10.2903/j.efsa.2005.290
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2007, 2012. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®](benzoic acid) as feed additive for pigs for reproduction. EFSA Journal, 2012;10(7):2775, 11 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2012. 2775
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2015. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of VevoVitall[®](benzoic acid) as a feed additive for pigs for reproduction (gestating and lactating sows, boars and gilts). EFSA Journal, 2015;13(7):4157, 7 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4157
- FDA, 2015. Direct Food Substances Affirmed as Generally Recognized As Safe, Subpart B Listing of Specific Substances Affirmed as GRAS: Sec. 184.1021 Benzoic acid. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 21, 184.
- Nukada Y, Ashikaga T, Miyazawa M, Hirota M, Sakaguchi H, Sasa H and Nishiyama N, 2012. Prediction of skin sensitization potency of chemicals by human Cell Line Activation Test (h-CLAT) and an attempt at classifying skin sensitization potency. Toxicology in Vitro, 26, 1150–1160.
- Pongsavee M, 2015. Effect of sodium benzoate preservative on micronucleus induction, chromosome break, and ala40thr superoxide dismutase gene mutation in lymphocytes. BioMed research international, 2015.
- Sipes NS, Martin MT, Kothiya P, Reif DM, Judson RS, Richard AM, Houck KA, Dix DJ, Kavlock RJ and Knudsen TB, 2013. Profiling 976 ToxCast Chemicals across 331 Enzymatic and Receptor Signaling Assays. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 26, 878–895.
- Takenouchi O, Miyazawa M, Saito K, Ashikaga T and Sakaguchi H, 2013. Predictive performance of the human Cell Line Activation Test (h-CLAT) for lipophilic chemicals with high octanol-water partition coefficients. The Journal of Toxicological Sciences, 38, 599–609.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 1996. Benzyl Acetate, Benzyl Alcohol, Benzaldehyde, and Benzoic Acid and its salts. Toxicological evaluation of certain food additives, WHO Food Additives Series 37, prepared by the 46th meeting of JECFA.
- Yilmaz S, Ünal F, Yüzbaşıoğlu D and Çelik M, 2012. DNA damage in human lymphocytes exposed to four food additives in vitro. Toxicology and Industrial Health, 30, 926–937.
- Zengin N, Yüzbaşıoğlu D, Ünal F, Yılmaz S and Aksoy H, 2011. The evaluation of the genotoxicity of two food preservatives: Sodium benzoate and potassium benzoate. Food and chemical toxicology, 49, 763–769.

A.3. Safety for the users

ECHA RAC (Committee for Risk Assessment), 2012a. Opinion proposing harmonised classification and labelling at EU level of Benzoic Acid. ECHA/RAC/CLH-O-0000001687-65-02. Available online: http://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/bc977357-37b3-495d-b7a9-62a2c8913fcf

- ECHA RAC (Committee for Risk Assessment), 2012b. Annex 1 Background document to the Opinion proposing harmonised classification and labelling at EU level of Benzoic acid. ECHA/RAC/CLH-O-0000001687-65-02/A1. Available online: http://www.echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/8ae8fdf5-7fc8-4332-9397-70d3016faf09
- IPCS, 2000. Benzoic acid and sodium benzoate, CICAD number 26. Published by the World Health Organization, Geneva. Available online: http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/cicad/cicad26rev1.pdf
- Rop DA, Ulrich CE, and Jessup DC, 1981. Four week subacute inhalation toxicity study of benzoic acid in rats. Report No. 163-676 of the International Research and Development Corporation, Mattawan, Michigan, USA. Velsicol Chemical Corporation, Chicago, Illinois, USA. 19 August 1981 plus amendment dated 3 November 1981. (unpublished data, cited in SCAN 2002 and ECHA 2012a,b).
- Schnuch A, Lessmann H, Geier J and Uter W, 2011. Contact allergy to preservatives. Analysis of IVDK data 1996–2009. British Journal of Dermatology, 164, 1316–1325.

A.4. Safety for the environment

- Alvarado MAP, López JC, Varela DB, Landín GM and Ibargüengoytia JAC, 2013. Benzoic acid and a product based on Bacillus species to protect piglet productivity and the environment. Revista Mexicana De Ciencias Pecuarias, 4, 447–468.
- Burant A, Lowry GV and Karamalidis AK, 2013. Partitioning behavior of organic contaminants in carbon storage environments: A critical review. Environmental Science and Technology, 47, 37–54.
- Dijkstra J, Oenema O, Van Groenigen JW, Spek JW, Van Vuuren AM and Bannink A, 2013. Diet effects on urine composition of cattle and N₂O emissions. Animal: an International Journal of Animal Bioscience, 7 Suppl. 2, 292–302.
- Deng W, Liu S and Yao K, 2015. Microbial degradation of 3-phenoxybenzoic acid–A review. Wei sheng wu xue bao = Acta microbiologica Sinica, 55, 1081–1088.
- Eriksen J, Nørgaard JV, Poulsen HD, Poulsen HV, Jensen BB and Petersen SO, 2014. Effects of acidifying pig diets on emissions of ammonia, methane, and sulfur from slurry during storage. Journal of environmental quality, 43, 2086–2095.
- Jyot G, Mandal K, Chahil GS and Singh B, 2014. Persistence and risk assessment of emamectin benzoate residues on okra fruits and soil. Environmental Technology 35, 1736–1743.
- Langford KH, Øxnevad S, Schøyen M and Thomas KV, 2014. Do antiparasitic medicines used in aquaculture pose a risk to the Norwegian aquatic environment? Environmental Science and Technology, 48, 7774–7780.
- Picot Groz M, Martinez Bueno MJ, Rosain D, Fenet H, Casellas C, Pereira C, Maria V, Bebianno MJ and Gomez E, 2014. Detection of emerging contaminants (UV filters, UV stabilizers and musks) in marine mussels from Portuguese coast by QuEChERS extraction and GC-MS/MS. Science of the Total Environment, 493, 162–169.
- Raftery TD, Isales GM, Yozzo KL and Volz DC, 2014. High-content screening assay for identification of chemicals impacting spontaneous activity in zebrafish embryos. Environmental Science & Technology, 48, 804–810.
- Wang Z, Gao Y, Wang S, Fang H, Xu D and Zhang F, 2016. Impacts of low-molecular-weight organic acids on aquatic behavior of graphene nanoplatelets and their induced algal toxicity and antioxidant capacity. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 23, 10938–10945.